FILED
March 15, 2016
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

COA No. 73740-6-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JASON GARCIA,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT
OF SNOHOMISH COUNTY

The Honorable George F. Appel

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

OLIVER R. DAVIS
Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701
Seattle, Washington 98101
(206) 587-2711

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. In J.T. Garcia’s trial on a charge of robbery, the 911 recording of Mr. Losey, one of the two accusers, was inadmissible as hearsay.

2. Mr. Losey’s conversation with the 911 operator was “testimonial;” its admission violated J.T. Garcia’s Sixth Amendment confrontation rights under Crawford v. Washington.¹

3. Mr. Garcia’s convictions for first degree robbery and possession of stolen property cannot stand under Washington’s statutory scheme in Title 9A Chapter 56, under State v. Melick;² further, as remedy, both convictions must be reversed for a new trial under Milanovich v. United States.³

4. Trial counsel was ineffective under the Sixth Amendment for failing to propose Milanovich – type jury instructions that would preclude the jury from convicting Mr. Garcia on both counts, requiring reversal of both counts.

5. Mr. Garcia’s conviction for possession of stolen property must be vacated as violative of Double Jeopardy.

¹ Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 51, 53-59, 124 S.Ct. 1354, 158 L.Ed.2d 177 (2004).

² State v. Melick, 131 Wn. App. 835, 837-41, 129 P.3d 816 (2006).

³ Milanovich v. United States, 365 U.S. 551, 81 S.Ct. 728, 5 L.Ed.2d 773 (1961).

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. After a motel clerk called 911 and reported that two guests were saying they were robbed, the operator asked to speak with Bret Losey, one of the accusers. During Losey's calm, almost laconic statements to the operator, he alleged that "J.T." Garcia was involved in the robbery. His statements were not made under any exciting effect of the robbery incident, but only under the newly-arising stress of his speculation that he would be shot because he was "snitching." Did the trial court abuse its discretion in admitting the hearsay?

2. Did the erroneous admission of the 911 conversation materially affect the outcome of trial, within reasonable probabilities, where the two complainants, Mr. Losey and Ms. Morcom, recanted their naming of J.T. Garcia, and did not consistently identify J.T. Garcia as being the robber?

3. Was Losey's 911 conversation "testimonial" under Crawford, where his statements to the operator merely reported past facts, where there was no ongoing emergency, and no actual call for help, and where the conversation demonstrated Losey's awareness that he was "snitching" by making inculpatory

descriptions and statements, and thus truly “bearing witness” against a person?

4. Does the confrontation error of admitting the 911 recording require reversal under the constitutional error standard, where the evidence that J.T. Garcia was in fact the robber, or one of two robbers, was entirely muddled and inconsistent, rather than overwhelming, and considering also that the defendant’s explanations to police for being in the motel room around the time of incident, and for having Morcom’s debit cards, were completely plausible?

5. Must Mr. Garcia’s convictions for both robbery and possession of stolen property – debit cards taken in the robbery -- be reversed for a new trial where the two convictions cannot stand under Melick and Milanovich?

6. Was trial counsel ineffective for failing to propose Melick and Milanovich – type jury instructions that would preclude the jury from convicting Mr. Garcia on both counts? As remedy, must both the robbery conviction and the possession conviction be reversed?

7. Must the defendant’s judgment and sentence for possession of stolen property be vacated under constitutional

Double Jeopardy rules, where Mr. Garcia was also convicted of robbery?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. **Procedural history.** J.T. Garcia was charged with allegedly being a person who robbed Bret Losey and Shana Morcom in a room at a Motel 6 in Snohomish County. CP 84-85. Shortly after the incident, J.T. Harrison was apprehended by police with the gun used, and proceeds of the robbery; he was later found guilty at a jury trial in April, 2015. CP 86-90. The appellant, Jacob T. Garcia, was contacted by police on an unrelated matter some days after the incident, and was found to have debit cards in Shana Morcom's name. CP 84-90. Mr. Garcia admitted that around the time of the reported robbery, he had been drug socializing with various acquaintances in a room or rooms at the Motel 6; however, he was not involved in any robbery. He had found the debit cards at a different motel, in Lynnwood, some days afterwards.⁴ CP 84-90; CP 78.

The two alleged victims recanted before J.T. Garcia's May, 2015 trial, and Morcom repeated her recantation in testimony at the

⁴ In closing argument, the State mocked Mr. Garcia's statement to police that he did not try to return the debit cards to the owner because he was too busy. 5/7/15RP at 402-03.

trial, explaining that her heavy drug usage caused her to not realize what the actual events of that evening were. Supp. CP ____, Sub # 44 (State's Trial Memorandum, May 4, 2015); 5/5/15RP at 99-109.

For his part, Mr. Losey had also told defense investigators, before trial, that it was J.T. Harrison, but not J.T. Garcia, who perpetrated the robbery of him and Ms. Morcom. Supp. CP ____, Sub # 44 (State's Trial Memorandum, at pp. 8-9). Mr. Garcia had been in the motel room during drug socializing at some point, but was not the robber; Losey stated that Ms. Morcom had forced him to say it was J.T. Garcia, which was what she was claiming. When the investigating detective had threatened him in order to obtain a statement, Losey simply wrote down the same accusation that Ms. Morcom was writing. Supp. CP ____, Sub # 44 (State's Trial Memorandum, at pp. 8-9).

However, Bret Losey did not testify at either Harrison's trial or Garcia's trial, because he had been hospitalized, after having been injured along with Deputy John Sadro, in a serious motor vehicle accident in April, during trial, while being transported as a

witness. 5/7/15RP at 371-74; see Harrison VRP – 4/20/15RP at 771-78.⁵

However, Mr. Losey's conversation with the 911 operator, in which Losey had named an acquaintance at the motel, J.T., who had long brown hair [Garcia], as being the robber, was admitted into evidence. 5/4/15RP at 12, 16-17.

Mr. Garcia was convicted by the jury on charges of first degree robbery with a firearm enhancement, unlawful possession of a firearm, and possession of stolen property (the debit cards stolen from Ms. Morcom), and was sentenced to standard range terms of imprisonment including 29 months on the possession count. CP 3-14.

Mr. Garcia timely appealed from his judgment and sentence. CP 1-2.

2. Evidence, including recantation. On the day of the crime, Losey and Morcom had appeared at the Motel 6 office, where they claimed to the clerk, and later to deputies, that they had

⁵ Mr. Losey's continuing unavailability was addressed at several junctures during Mr. Garcia's trial, including based on information from Swedish Hospital regarding his medical status and inability to appear. He had been served with a subpoena. 5/7/15RP at 371-74; see Crawford, 541 U.S. at 45; State v. Smith, 148 Wn.2d 122, 132, 59 P.3d 74 (2002).

been robbed at gunpoint in their room five minutes previously.

5/6/15RP at 244-48, 257-58.⁶

The Motel clerk dialed 911 and reported the basics of what she had been told, and then (in the portion admitted for the jury) had Mr. Losey speak with the operator, at the operator's request. Losey stated that he and Shana Morcom had been robbed, and that an acquaintance named "J.T.," who had long brown hair, was the perpetrator. Losey complained that his car was locked and expressed fear that he will be shot for "snitching." Later in the 911 call, Losey seems to use the word "they," referring to two people. Supp. CP ____, Sub # 41 (Garcia exhibit list, exhibit 44); see Unredacted 911 CD; see Part D.1, infra.⁷ 5/6/15RP at

⁶ Various implementaria of substantial drug usage was found in the Motel 6 room, along with a soda can, cigarettes, and a hair sample with DNA from Mr. Garcia on them, which confirmed what Mr. Garcia always admitted – that he had been in that motel room with people that were drug socializing. 5/6/15RP at 259-60, 281-83; 5/6/15RP at 316-18; CP 78.

⁷ In admitting the 911 recording, the trial court relied in part, on its prior hearsay and confrontation clause reasoning from the earlier trial of J.T. Harrison with the same prosecutor (albeit different defense counsel). See 5/4/15RP at 12, 17-19; see Harrison VRP of 4/20/15RP at 771-822 (motion to transfer COA VRP pending). At that trial, the court stated with apparent dissatisfaction with Harrison's defense counsel that another basis for allowing the recording without confrontation was that counsel had agreed to its admission, but then suddenly withdrew that agreement when it was learned that Mr. Losey would be unable to testify. Harrison VRP of 4/20/15RP at 770-822; but see Crawford, 541 U.S. at 543-47 (testimonial statements of non-testifying accuser may not be admitted).

Deputies were able to use the GPS signal from Ms. Morcom's cell phone to track the device to a home in Everett. During surveillance, officers spotted and arrested J.T. Harrison, a short-haired male who somewhat matched a description given by a worker in the area of the Motel and later identified by the complainants. During a drive-by show-up, Mr. Losey concluded to the deputy that he was only 25 percent sure of his identification, after the arrestee was removed from the car he was sitting in as Mr. Losey watched. 5/6/15RP at 204-07, 218-19, 227, 267-69, 308-12. In a subsequent search of a garage, police located a .38 caliber revolver, along with belongings of Morcom and Losey. Police also determined that Harrison had changed into different clothes while inside the garage. 5/6/15RP at 211, 238; 5/6/15RP at 272-73, 313-15, 324-27. Amber Mark, the homeowner, was familiar with J.T. Harrison; she told the police that he frequently carried a .38 handgun on his person. 5/6/15RP at 239, 243-44.

Approximately a week later, appellant J.T. Garcia was contacted by a police officer in Lynnwood on an unrelated matter. Mr. Garcia had debit cards on his person in the name of Ms. Morcom. 5/6/15RP at 333, 346-48. He stated he had found them

in phone book at the Extended Stay motel he was staying in.

5/6/15RP at 349-50.

However, Shana Morcom recanted her accusation of J.T. Garcia before trial, and also at trial. 5/5/15RP at 99-100. She had become acquainted with Mr. Garcia because he was hanging around the same motel where she and Mr. Losey were doing drugs, and may have been in their room the same day as the robbery. 5/5/15RP at 100-05. She testified that she was heavily intoxicated by drugs at the time, and asserted that the reason for her false accusations of Mr. Garcia, at the time, and afterwards was a result of the drugs she was using. 5/5/15RP at 107, 152-59, 165; 5/6/15RP at 277, 348-49. The accusation and description Ms. Morcom gave to law enforcement came from her boyfriend, Mr. Losey. 5/5/15RP at 125-28, 135. Ms. Morcom contacted the defense investigator when she needed to correct what she had said at the time, and also spoke with the deputy prosecutor about it. 5/5/15RP at 107-09. She stopped accusing Mr. Garcia as being involved, after she completed a drug sobriety program; she did think, however, that J.T. Harrison was in fact part of what happened. 5/5/15RP at 166-68.

D. ARGUMENT.

1. BRETT LOSEY'S CALM, UN-EXCITED 911 CONVERSATION WAS INADMISSIBLE HEARSAY, AND HIS STATEMENTS WERE "TESTIMONIAL."

a. Mr. Losey was calm during his 911 conversation,

rather than under the excitement of the robbery event. Brett Losey's recorded 911 conversation was erroneously admitted as an excited utterance, and it violated confrontation under the Sixth Amendment and Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 51, 53-59, 124 S.Ct. 1354, 158 L.Ed.2d 177 (2004).⁸

The evidence indicated that Losey and Morcom had showed up at the Motel 6 office. The motel clerk dialed 911 and told the operator that occupants of one of the motel's rooms had told her that they had been robbed at gunpoint "five minutes ago."

After obtaining initial details from the clerk regarding the incident and learning that no one was injured, the operator asks to speak with Mr. Losey. The clerk was at first asking Losey for answers to the operator's questions, and then relaying them.

⁸ Mr. Garcia's counsel objected below. See State v. O'Cain, 169 Wn. App. 228, 235, 279 P.3d 926 (2012).

Unredacted 911 CD; see also Garcia exhibit 44 (911 recording, as redacted and played for Garcia’s jury at 5/6/15RP at 201).⁹

While speaking with the operator and answering her questions about what had happened, Mr. Losey calmly asserts that “yup,” he knew “the person” who had robbed them. Unredacted 911 CD. In the recording, he says that the person was named “J.T.” with long brown hair, although Losey stated at that time that he did not know the person’s last name. Losey continues to provide answers to the operator’s several questions, including stating he does not know where the persons went, and waits while the operator types information that he provides, including his statement that there are no injuries. Unredacted 911 CD.

In the recording, Losey answers further questions regarding the gun allegedly used. Asked where the person went, Losey

⁹ The trial court assessed the hearsay and confrontation issues by properly listening to the Unredacted 911 CD recording, which includes the initial portion of the call, in which the Motel 6 clerk is speaking with the operator before the operator asks to speak with Mr. Losey (Mr. Losey is relaying information to the clerk, who then relays it to the 911 operator). “Garcia exhibit no. 44” is the redacted 911 call as played for Mr. Garcia’s jury in this case. The prosecutor did not place the Unredacted 911 CD into evidence in either Mr. Harrison’s or Mr. Garcia’s trial. The exhibit supplementally designated and referred to herein as “Unredacted 911 CD” is a track from Mr. Garcia’s trial counsel’s working copy of the Unredacted 911 CD, including the motel clerk’s portion. That track is referred to herein as “Unredacted 911 CD,” and it has been included with the electronic filing and service of the Appellant’s Opening Brief. Undersigned counsel anticipates that the Respondent will agree in its Brief of Respondent that the track is indeed the entire 911 recording.

states that he does not know because “they” told him and his girlfriend (Ms. Morcom) to go in the bathroom after the robbery and wait (they only then went to the motel office). Losey annoyedly complains that his car keys were stolen and that he did not know how he would get into his vehicle, which was locked. Unredacted 911 CD.

Losey then gives more details describing the person he is accusing, and tells the operator that they will therefore be able to apprehend him; he makes sounds as if he is chortling. Unredacted 911 CD, at time point 3:28 to 3:30.

After being asked what make of getaway car or cars might have been involved (Losey did not know one way or the other), Mr. Losey states, “I’m afraid he’s going to shoot me though, I’m snitching.” Unredacted 911 call, at time point 3:38 to 3:44. The operator then continues to obtain further details, and then when she asks Mr. Losey if he will wait in the motel office for the police to contact him there, he seems to glumly respond that he will. Unredacted 911 CD.

(i). Standard of Review.

This Court of Appeals has said that it reviews evidentiary rulings, such as whether statements qualify as an excited

utterance, for abuse of discretion. State v. Briscoeray, 95 Wn. App. 167, 171, 974 P.2d 912 (1999); see also State v. Lough, 125 Wn.2d 847, 856, 889 P.2d 487 (1995).

However, in the particular circumstances of this case the standard of review should be *de novo*. See State v. Wood, 45 Wn. App. 299, 311, 725 P.2d 435, 442 (1986) (reviewing *de novo* the fact-finding court's legal conclusions where based on stipulated documentary evidence). Such review is appropriate where this Court of Appeals has the same documentary evidence before it – the 911 CD – that the trial court assessed.

Further, an abuse of discretion occurs if the court commits legal error. State v. Brown, 127 Wn.2d 749, 758, 903 P.2d 459 (1995) (no deference to excited utterance ruling where issue at hand is whether statement was made while the declarant was still excited by being “under the influence of the event.”) (citing 6 J. Wigmore, Evidence § 1747, at 195 (1976)). A trial judge must act within the discretion accorded by the applicable evidence rule, and the appellate courts will review the interpretation of an evidentiary rule *de novo* as a question of law. State v. Gunderson, 181 Wn. 2d 916, 921-22, 337 P.3d 1090 (2014) (citing State v. DeVincentis, 150 Wn.2d 11, 17, 74 P.3d 119 (2003)).

Here, Mr. Garcia is arguing that under ER 803(a)(2), the declarant must be speaking under the *continued excitement of the event reported* (i.e., the robbery), and that the trial court effectively disregarded that rule. See, e.g., Brown, 127 Wn.2d at 758 (testimony of declarant that she had good reason to fabricate during her statement nevertheless rendered it inadmissible as a matter of law as an excited utterance). And this Court has the 911 recording. *De novo* review is appropriate for all of these reasons.

(ii). Hearsay error.

In any event, the trial court abused its discretion when it held that Mr. Losey's 911 conversation was an excited utterance. State v. Briscoeray, 95 Wn. App. at 171 (applying abuse of discretion standard). It was manifestly unreasonable to deem his utterances "excited."

Although hearsay is generally inadmissible, ER 803(a)(2) provides that "excited utterances" are admissible. State v. Magers, 164 Wn.2d 174, 187, 189 P.3d 126 (2008). A statement may be an excited utterance if

(1) a startling event occurred, (2) the declarant made the statement while under the stress or excitement of the event, and (3) the statement relates to the event.

Magers, 164 Wn.2d at 187–88. Crucially, the declarant must make the statement while he or she is still so much under the influence of the event that the statement “could not be the result of fabrication, intervening actions, or the exercise of choice or judgment.” State v. Strauss, 119 Wn.2d 401, 416, 832 P.2d 78 (1992).

First, it is true that in the recording, the Motel 6 clerk said the complainants told her that the robbery occurred only five minutes earlier (this statement was made before the operator asked to speak with Mr. Losey). See Unredacted 911 CD. But the amount of passage of time is not the qualitative determinant, one way or the other, for an excited utterance. See, e.g., Strauss, 119 Wn.2d at 417; State v. Flett, 40 Wn. App. 277, 278–79, 287, 699 P.2d 774 (1985) (both holding that an extended passage of time after the event reported did not preclude the required excitement from continuing if caused by that event).

Instead, courts also consider the declarant's observable level of emotional stress when making the statement. Strauss, 119 Wn.2d 416–17. Here, during Losey's questioning by the 911 operator, Losey speaks laconically, and at one point sounds primarily annoyed that his car is locked. As to any impression relating to the incident, Losey states, at most, that he did not

currently recall a certain detail of the robber's physical appearance, because, he said, he had a gun pointed at him at that time.

Unredacted 911 CD.

The trial court did not have an adequate basis to conclude that the 911 conversation showed that Mr. Losey was under such excitement from the *robbery* that it was continuing, and produced an excited remark about the robbery. The 911 recording shows no excitement, of any level or type, and certainly none that could possibly "still" Mr. Losey's "reflective faculties." State v. Chapin, 118 Wn.2d 681, 686, 826 P.2d 194 (1992).

The court noted that Mr. Losey's voice sounds "fairly measured" in the beginning of the call, but reasoned that he was still under the excitement of the event under the Rule, because he stated that the robbery had just occurred. The court found that becoming aware he might face consequences from reporting the event (being shot) caused him to become agitated. 5/4/15RP at 12, 16-17. The court also concluded that Mr. Losey was afraid of the persons involved in the incident. 5/4/15RP at 16-17.

There is no excitement here that satisfies ER 803(a)(2). State v. Dixon, 37 Wn. App. 867, 873, 684 P.2d 725 (1984) (properly restrictive application of the rule ensures the

trustworthiness it requires). Mr. Losey makes a calculation about his description of the person -- implying that this will ensure J.T. will be arrested. Then at some point, Losey says he is afraid because he might get shot because he is snitching. Stress, if any, that Mr. Losey felt was not continuing since the incident, and Losey did not make an excited remark caused by the robbery and relating to it. Magers, 164 Wn.2d at 187–88.

The trial court abused its discretion under ER 803(a)(2).

b. The 911 conversation was “testimonial.”

(i). Standard of review.

An alleged violation of the confrontation clause is reviewed *de novo*. State v. Jasper, 174 Wn. 2d 96, 108, 271 P.3d 876, 883 (2012) (documentary review of laboratory certification documents) (citing Lilly v. Virginia, 527 U.S. 116, 137, 119 S.Ct. 1887, 144 L.Ed.2d 117 (1999)).

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