FILED May 24, 2016 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

NO. 73740-6-I

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

# STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

۷.

JASON T. GARCIA,

Appellant.

# **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

MARK K. ROE Prosecuting Attorney

ANDREW E. ALSDORF Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S #504 Everett, Washington 98201 Telephone: (425) 388-3333

ï

#

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

If one accepts *arguendo* that this case represents a "routine robbery," one must also accept that a "routine robbery" creates an ongoing emergency. As Deputy Sadro told the jury, "There was a lot of cop cars at this thing. It was a big event." 4 RP 310. But more

importantly, Brett Losey's 911 call didn't specify the possible motives of the suspects. As far as law enforcement was concerned, they could have been driving to a race-based robbery, a robbery committed by gang assailants, a domestic dispute-turned-robbery, a robbery inspired by drug-induced psychosis, or many other dangerous possibilities. It was the lack of more descriptive information which made this emergency all-the-more dangerous for responding officers. <u>See Bryant</u>, 131 S.Ct. at 1163-1164.

One of the only details available to law enforcement was that the robbery involved a gun, a fact which substantially increases the danger posed to police and the public. <u>Id</u>. at 1158, 1164 ("the duration and scope of an emergency may depend in part on the type of weapon employed"). Similarly, the victim provided no information about how near or far the robbers had fled. Ex. 44A. The defendant's reliance on the fact that "the perpetrators fled in cars" was only established *after* police talked to the motel employee at the scene. <u>Compare Br. App. 24</u>, with 2 RP 182.

Turning to Brett Losey's perspective of this evolving emergency, it's true that his self-described "snitching" could lead the reader to assume he had prosecutorial motives. But his subsequent recant of his 100% identification of Jacob Harrison to

just 25%, along with his unabashed hostility towards the prosecution as trial approached, exposes the assumption as baseless. See 3 RP 310, \_\_CP\_\_, Sub #44 (State's Trial Memorandum at 9). If prosecution was his motive in any respect, it certainly wasn't his primary one. The more reasonable interpretation of Brett Losey's reason for "snitching" was that he wanted police assistance in *apprehending* (but not necessarily charging, trying, or convicting) the suspects in order to improve his immediate chances of avoiding a gunshot wound. The U.S. Supreme Court has been sensitive to this distinction:

During an ongoing emergency, a victim is most likely to want the threat to her and to other potential victims to end, but that does not necessarily mean that the victim wants or envisions prosecution of the assailant. A victim may want the attacker to be incapacitated temporarily or rehabilitated.

Bryant, 131 S. Ct. at 1161.

Viewed in the objective context of what officers knew at the time and the primary purpose of both Mr. Losey and law enforcement, the 911 recording was not testimonial because its primary purpose was to resolve an ongoing emergency.

# 3. The Questions And Answers Were Necessary To Address An Ongoing Emergency.

The third factor is whether the nature of the questions and answers establish the necessity of resolving the present emergency. <u>Koslowski</u>, 166 Wn.2d at 419.

The Court has found this factor indicates statements are not testimonial when an officer speaking to a witness has little knowledge about what happened and needs to learn more to determine whether an ongoing emergency exists. Responses to questions designed to determine "what happened" are exactly the type that indicate statements were not meant to convey an historical fact, but instead were designed to meet an ongoing emergency. <u>Bryant</u>, 131 S.Ct. at 1165-66.

In <u>Ohlson</u> the responding officer only had a 911 report of a speeding vehicle trying to hit some juveniles. The initial questions were directed at determining whether the situation presented an ongoing threat to the juveniles or anyone else. <u>Ohlson</u>, 162 Wn.2d at 18.

In <u>Reed</u>, the 911 operator asked the victim about her location, her need for medical assistance, and whether Reed was still in the area. The court held that these questions were designed

to determine if there was an ongoing emergency. <u>Reed</u>, 166 Wn. App. at 566-67.

In contrast, on the limited record available, the Court found no ongoing emergency existed to justify finding the victims' statements were non-testimonial in <u>Koslowski</u>, 166 Wn.2d at 427-28. Even so, the Court recognized the need for officers to identify suspects to learn whether they might encounter a violent felon. <u>Id.</u> at 425.

This is exactly what the 911 operator was trying to do in this case, without much success. Ex. 44A. The 911 operator was able to obtain a description and initials for one of two suspects, which is not even enough to determine a suspect's criminal history. The operator was also trying to learn whether the suspects fled on foot or in a vehicle. Ex. 44A. Deputy Sadro described this fact as critically important to how responding officers would conduct their search. 5 Harrison RP 699-701. The reasonable interpretation of these questions and answers is a dynamic and expedited response to a just-completed violent crime. Even after the 911 call, the full names and general locations of the suspects remained unknown.

### 4. The 911 Call Was Informal.

Finally, the 911 recording was not conducted in a formal setting. Circumstances which determine whether the interview was formal or informal include whether there was a degree of confusion during the interview, whether the interview was structured, and where the interview was conducted. Bryant, 131 S.Ct. at 1166; Reed, 168 Wn App. at 213. In Davis, the Court distinguished between a frantic 911 call from a victim and the structured interrogation conducted in Crawford (an interview in a police station where police recorded the interview and took notes). Davis, 547 U.S. at 827. The frantic 911 call was completely informal, whereas the interview in Crawford was very formal. Id. The Court followed this reasoning when it found the officer's initial interview with a juvenile who had nearly been run over by a vehicle was informal, as it was "conducted in an unsecured situation that 'was not tranguil, or even ... safe." Ohlson, 162 Wn.3d at 18, guoting Davis, 547 U.S. at 2277.

As applied to this case, Mr. Losey was not in custody, nor in the physical presence of any law enforcement officers. He was in a motel lobby speaking on the phone. The recording shows that he was easily distracted from the dispatcher's questions,

understandably so considering his recent trauma. There was no reasonable assurance that the suspects had permanently fled. When statements arise in a public place unfamiliar to the declarant, as opposed to a station house, this factor generally supports a finding that the statements were nontestimonial. <u>See State v. Reed</u>, 168 Wn. App. 553, 569, 278 P.3d 203 (2012).

# C. EVEN IF THE 911 CALL WAS ADMITTED IN ERROR, THE ERROR WAS HARMLESS DUE TO OVERWHELMING EVIDENCE OF THE DEFENDANT'S GUILT.

Although the 911 call was properly admitted as a nontestimonial excited utterance, even if this Court disagrees the resulting error was harmless. If the trial court erred only in determining that the recording was admissible as an excited utterance, that nonconstitutional error requires reversal only if it is reasonably probable that the error materially affected the trial's outcome. <u>State v. Alvarez-Abrego</u>, 154 Wn. App. 351, 371, 225 P.3d 396 (2010).

On the other hand, if the trial court erred in determining that the 911 call was nontestimonial, the error is subject to constitutional harmless error analysis. <u>State v. Watt</u>, 160 Wn.2d 626, 635, 160 P.3d 640 (2007). The State bears the burden of proving that the error was harmless. A constitutional error is harmless if the

appellate court is convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that any reasonable jury would have reached the same result in the absence of the error. However, a constitutional error does not require reversal when it is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury verdict is unattributable to the error. The appellate court looks only at the untainted evidence to determine if the untainted evidence is so overwhelming that it necessarily leads to a finding of guilt. <u>Id</u>. at 635-636.

In this case the sole contested issue at trial was the defendant's identity as one of two accomplices to a robbery everyone agreed occurred. 4 RP 407-408, 418-419. The 911 recording did not introduce anything new to the jury that they did not hear from other sources. On the issue of identity, the recording simply provided a description of the primary suspect as a white male known to the victims as "J.T.". Any description of J.T.'s clothing was irrelevant because the defendant was not located on the day of the robbery and therefore would have changed his clothes. Any description of what J.T. did inside the motel room was relegated to minimal relevance when the defendant conceded in closing argument that the robbery happened.

The only remaining relevant information from the 911 call, a white male primary suspect known to the victims as "J.T.," was soon collected by Deputy Sadro when he was first to arrive at the scene. 3 RP 247-248. The jury heard Ms. Morcom's description of the defendant pursuant to the statement of identity exception to the hearsay rule. 3 RP 524; ER 801(d)(1)(iii).

The jury also learned that both Ms. Morcom and Mr. Losey provided extremely confident identifications of the other suspect, Jacob Harrison, when he was arrested on the same day as the robbery. At the time Ms. Morcom was 95% confident that Jacob Harrison was the second suspect, the one without the gun. 2 RP 143. Mr. Losey's identification of Mr. Harrison was "100% certain," before he revised his estimate to 25% when Mr. Harrison was staring in his direction. 3 RP 309-312. The victims' identifications of Mr. Harrison were ultimately confirmed by compelling corroborative evidence, including the fact that police tracked Ms. Morcom's phone to the home where Mr. Harrison was ultimately arrested, and the home contained much of the stolen property taken in the robbery, in the same bag as a revolver consistent with the gun used in the robbery. 3 RP 208-211, 272-275, 325-327. The confirmation of Ms. Morcom's identification of Mr. Harrison via corroborative

physical evidence exponentially increased the credibility of her multiple identifications of the defendant as the gun-wielding primary suspect.

Ms. Morcom ultimately identified the defendant two more times throughout the investigation. Four days after the robbery she told Officer Oleson that she knew Jason Garcia as "J.T.," and that J.T. had robbed her the previous Sunday along with another individual who was arrested on the same day as the robbery. 3RP 347-348. Then nine days after the robbery, Ms. Morcom selected the defendant from a photo montage with absolute, 100% certainty that he participated in the robbery. 3RP 277-280.

The evidence placed the defendant inside the victim's motel room on the day of the robbery. The defendant's DNA was found on a 7-Up bottle, two cigarettes, and a long hair found at the scene of the crime. Ex. 50-51. Of course, mere presence in a room does not equate to complicity in armed robbery, especially when that presence provides a ready-made defense to argue (as the defendant argues on appeal) that he could have "purloined" the victim's debit cards through means other than robbery. <u>See</u> Br. App. 33. Such a defense could have provided the jury with reason to doubt. But the defendant did not offer the ready-made defense.

Instead he claimed that he possessed the victim's stolen debit cards four days after the robbery because he randomly found them inside a phone book in a completely different hotel. 3 RP 350. As the prosecutor argued to great effect in closing, this coincidence defied common sense when combined with the fact that Ms. Morcom identified the defendant multiple times as the person who robbed both her and Brett Losey. See 4 RP 422-423.

The prosecutor thoroughly discredited Ms. Morcom's attempt to recant her identification. It is a rare case in which a victim admits that a reason for her recanted testimony is because a friend of the defendant's convinced her that the defendant is simply incapable of committing the crime. Yet Ms. Morcom admitted to exactly that. 2 RP 109-111. The jury did not need the 911 tape, which did not involve Ms. Morcom at all, to see that Ms. Morcom's confident identifications on the night of the robbery, four days after the robbery, and nine days after the robbery, were eminently more credible than her attempt to cast reasonable doubt into a trial nearly 7 months after the crime. Any error in the admission of the 911 tape was therefore harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

# D. WHILE THE STATE CONCEDES ERROR UNDER THE <u>MELICK</u> DOCTRINE, THE REMEDY IS VACATION OF THE POSSESSION COUNT.

It is settled law that "one cannot be both the principal thief and the receiver of stolen goods. The State is free to charge both crimes assuming sufficient evidence supports the charges, but "the fact finder must be instructed that if it finds that the defendant committed the taking crime, it must stop and not reach the possession charge." <u>State v. Melick</u>, 131 Wn. App. 835, 841, 129 P.3d 816 (2006) (citing <u>State v. Hancock</u>, 44 Wn. App. 297, 301, 721 P.2d 1006 (1986)). As the defendant correctly states, a span of time between the taking of property and the subsequent possession of the same stolen property does not nullify the principle. Br. App. 32, fn. 12.

The State does not agree, however, that the appropriate remedy is the vacation of both the robbery and the possession of stolen property counts and remand for a new trial. <u>See Br. App. 33</u> (citing <u>Milanovich v. United States</u>, 365 U.S. 551, 81 S.Ct. 728, 5 L.Ed.2d 773 (1961)). In <u>Melick</u> this Court recognized that "[I]ater cases interpreting <u>Milanovich</u> have modified the remedy." <u>Melick</u>, 131 Wn. App. at 841. As many courts have recognized, <u>Milanovich</u> was overruled on the issue of remedy by United States v. Gaddis,

424 U.S. 544, 96 S.Ct. 1023, 47 L.Ed.2d 222 (1976).<sup>2</sup> This Court has already conducted a thorough review of <u>Gaddis</u> and its progeny, and distilled them into this rule: "[W]hen the jury is not properly instructed and the defendant is convicted of both taking and possession, the proper remedy is to dismiss the possession charge, as this would have been the result had the jury been properly instructed." <u>Melick</u>, 131 Wn. App. at 842. This rule makes sense and is easy to apply in this case. The jury's guilty verdict on the robbery count would have halted their deliberations short of reaching the possession of stolen property count, had they been properly instructed. The vacation of the possession count requires no speculation about the jury's deliberative process, and represents

United States v. Brown, 996 F.2d 1049, 1055 (10th Cir. 1993).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> "Every appellate court decision since Gaddis has similarly concluded that a new trial is not required where the defendant is convicted for both theft and possession and both counts were properly submitted to the jury. See United States v. Garber, 626 F.2d 1144, 1153 (3d Cir.1980), cert. denied, 449 U.S. 1079, 101 S.Ct. 860, 66 L.Ed.2d 802 (1981); United States v. Moore, 616 F.2d 1030, 1032-34 (7th Cir.), cert. denied, 446 U.S. 987, 100 S.Ct. 2972, 64 L.Ed.2d 844 (1980); United States v. DiGeronimo, 598 F.2d 746, 752-53 (2d Cir.), cert. denied, 444 U.S. 886, 100 S.Ct. 180, 62 L.Ed.2d 117 (1979); United States v. Crawford, 576 F.2d 794, 800-01 (9th Cir.), cert. denied, 439 U.S. 851, 99 S.Ct. 157, 58 L.Ed.2d 155 (1978); United States v. Gilbert, 553 F.2d 990, 990 (5th Cir.1977), cert. denied, 439 U.S. 913, 99 S.Ct. 284, 58 L.Ed.2d 259 (1978); United States v. Lindsay, 552 F.2d 263, 265-66 & n. 3 (8th Cir.1977); Proffitt v. United States, 549 F.2d 910, 912 (4th Cir.1976), cert. denied, 429 U.S. 1076, 97 S.Ct. 818, 50 L.Ed.2d 795 (1977); United States v. Sellers, 547 F.2d 785, 786 (4th Cir.1976), cert. denied, 429 U.S. 1075, 97 S.Ct. 815, 50 L.Ed.2d 793 (1977); United States v. Solimine, 536 F.2d 703, 710-11 (6th Cir.), vacated on other grounds, 429 U.S. 990, 97 S.Ct. 517, 50 L.Ed.2d 603 (1976)."

a fair outcome considering the fact that the strength of the evidence was equally strong as to those counts.

### E. THE ALLEGATION OF DOUBLE JEOPARDY IS MOOT AFTER THE STATE'S CONCESSION UNDER THE <u>MELICK</u> DOCTRINE.

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